IN THE

SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JOSEPH BESARABA,)		
Appellant,)		
v.)	CASE NO.	80,016
STATE OF FLORIDA,)	CASE NO.	80,010
Appellee.)))		

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

RICHARD L. JORANDBY
Public Defender
15th Judicial Circuit of Florida
Criminal Justice Building
421 Third Street/6th Floor
West Palm Beach, Florida 33401
(407) 355-7600

JEFFREY L. ANDERSON Assistant Public Defender Florida Bar No. 374407

Counsel for Appellant

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellant was the defendant and Appellee the prosecution in the Criminal Division of the Circuit Court of the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit, In and For Broward County, Florida. In this brief the parties will be referred to as they appear before this Honorable Court.

The following symbols will be used:

"R" Record on Appeal

"1SR" Supplemental Record (received May, 1993)

"2SR" Second Supplemental Record (received August, 1993)

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On August 20, 1989, Appellant, Joseph Besaraba, was charged by indictment with: two counts of premeditated murder in the first degree; one count of attempted murder in the first degree; one count of robbery with a firearm; and one count of carrying a firearm during the commission of a felony (R2553-55). Jury selection began on January 15, 1992. At the close of the state's case, and at the close of all the evidence, Appellant moved for judgments of acquittal (R1779,1870). Appellant's motions were denied (R1779,1870). Appellant was found guilty as charged of two counts of murder in the first degree (R3336). Appellant was found guilty of attempted murder as charged (R3336). Appellant was found guilty of robbery as charged (R3336). The trial court arrested judgment for the offense of carrying a firearm during the commission of a felony (R3352).

The jury recommendation was 7-5 for the death penalty (R2504). The trial court sentenced Appellant to death for the two murder convictions (R3341,3344). The trial court entered its sentencing order (Appendix, R3353-73). The trial court departed from the recommended guideline sentence of 12-17 years (R3340) and sentenced Appellant to

life imprisonment for the attempted murder (R3347) and life imprisonment for the robbery (R3350). All sentences are to run consecutively (R2546,3346,3349,3352). A timely notice of appeal was filed (R3377).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

GUILT PHASE

The relevant facts are as follows. Roseanne Bethea testified that on July 23, 1989, she was riding a bus to work (R1617). The bus stopped before its scheduled stop at Ft. Lauderdale airport (R1620). There was no bus stop at this location (R1624). The bus driver went to the back of the bus and started yelling at a man seated in the back (R1621). Bethea did not see this man in court (R1621), however, in an out-of-court lineup, Bethea had identified Appellant as the man (R1621, 1742). The bus driver told Appellant that he didn't want any drinking in his bus and that he had to take the drink out of his bus (R1624). Appellant said, "I won't. I won't get rid of my can. Go without, but I will hold it" (R1624-25). The bus driver didn't want Appellant to hold the can; he wanted Appellant to get the can out of his bus (R1625). The bus driver was "very loud, yelling, angry" (R1625). Appellant said he just wanted to hold the drink and he didn't want to Appellant said that he wouldn't drink it throw it out (R1625). (R1625). The bus driver kept yelling that he didn't want the can on his bus and to get it out (R1625). Appellant exited the bus (R1625). Bethea believed that the confrontation occurred sometime between 11:00 a.m. and 1:00 p.m. (R1630). After the confrontation it took 15 to 20 minutes to reach the bus terminal (R1631). Bethea arrived at work around 1:00 p.m. (R1631). Approximately a half hour later, Bethea heard on the radio that the bus driver had been shot (R1644). Bethea

told her boss that it was "strange that I was on the bus" and "there was a man arguing with the bus driver" (R1644).

Gregory Austing testified that he was a bus operator for Broward County Mass Transit (R1646). On July 23, 1989, Austing's bus traveled a route that was always 40 minutes behind the route of Sidney Granger's bus (R1650). At 12:32 p.m., Austing was heading southbound and picked up Appellant just outside the airport (R1660-61). The area where Appellant was picked up was kind of desolate (R1702-03,1709). Appellant and another person were at the stop (R1664). Appellant had a white plastic bag in his left hand and his right arm was straightened out inside the bag (R1664). It also appeared that Appellant was carrying a bag behind his back (R1665). Sidney Granger's bus would have passed the stop where Appellant was picked up by Austing (R1673). If Granger had put Appellant off the bus before the airport while heading in a northerly direction, Appellant would have time to be picked up by Granger 40 minutes later (R1674). Appellant purchased a transfer and sat down (R1665). The bus left the airport at 12:35 p.m. and headed south (R1659). The bus arrived at Young Circle a few minutes prior to 1:00 p.m. (R1674). Appellant exited the bus at this point (R1675). Young Circle is the hub of bus activity in the south end of Broward County (R1705). The bus transfer Appellant purchased is a pass that one could use to ride a bus at a transfer point (R1666). The bus transfer cannot be used on a bus using the same route (R1701). The bus transfer would not get Appellant on Sidney Granger's bus (R1701).

Delbert Thomas testified that on July 23, 1989, he had gotten off work at 12:45 p.m. and caught a bus to Young circle where he was going to transfer to another bus to go home (R1788). Thomas was at Young

Circle for approximately 10 to 15 minutes before his bus arrived (R1788). Thomas noticed Appellant sitting on a bus bench with a duffle bag (R1790). Appellant was drinking out of a plain brown bag (R1791). Thomas could see a neck of a bottle coming from the bag (R1791). The neck was consistent with Exhibit #61 -- a Bushmill Whiskey bottle (R1791,1248). Thomas thought it was a wine bottle (R1794).

Thomas testified that he boarded the bus and started walking 4 or 5 feet from the driver when he heard a "pop" (R1792). Thomas turned and saw Appellant shoot the bus driver (R1792). Appellant was standing on the sidewalk when he fired the shot (R1796). Appellant then turned at a slight angle and shot through the window hitting a passenger in the back (R1793). Thomas jumped to the floor (R1793). In what seemed like a couple of minutes later, Thomas heard some more pops (R1793).

Donald Kocher testified that he boarded the bus to go to Dania (R1397). Kocher paid his fare and sat down three or four feet from the driver (R1399-1400). A half minute later Kocher heard shots (R1399-1400). Kocher looked at the bus driver and noticed that he was full of blood (R1400). The bus driver toppled half on the floor and half on Kocher (R1400). Kocher saw a man on the sidewalk shoot (R1403). The man never boarded the bus (R1406). There were two more shots (R1400). One shot came through the window from the outside (R1401-02). It passed by Kocher's head (R1401). Kocher pushed the driver off him and ran off the bus (R1401). No one was sitting near Kocher when the bus driver was shot (R1405-06). Kocher did not see Wesley Anderson when the shooting occurred (R1406).

Paul Fellers testified he was sitting at a gas station at Young Circle when he heard three shots (R1142-43). Fellers looked over and saw Appellant holding a gun in front of a bus (R1143,1151-52).

Appellant fired three more shots and then walked over to Tyler Street (R1143). Fellers called 911 (R1154). Approximately one minute had elapsed since the first shot (R1148). Appellant forced a man out of his car (R1143). Appellant drove away.

Susan Miller testified she was at the Publix at approximately 1:30 p.m. (R1093). Miller was told that there was man with a gun and that shots had been heard (R1094). Miller then saw a man with a gun (R1095). He was walking slowly and did not try to conceal his face (R1103). The man walked up to a car and tapped the window with the gun (R1098). Miller turned away for a minute and turned back and saw the man fire three shots (R1098). The incident happened very fast (R1098). It seemed like a matter of seconds (R1098).

David Bilkis was at the Publix supermarket when he heard 2 or 3 shots (R1107,1109). Bilkis saw Appellant walking with a gun in his hand (R1108,1115). Appellant held the gun in the air and turned around a couple of times (R1111). Appellant peeked into one car and approached another car -- a silver gray color Dodge (R1112). The car was the third or fourth in line at a red light (R1112). Appellant said, "I just killed two people. I'm going to kill you. Give me your car" (R1112). The occupant exited the car (R1112). The man placed his hands in the air and was shot three times (R1112). Bilkis claimed that he helped the man who was shot, Scott Yaguda, get down to the ground (R1113). The whole event occurred in a minute and a half to two minutes (R1113).

Roseanne Rossi testified that on July 23, 1989, she was driving to Publix when she stopped at a red light (R1252-53). Rossi saw Appellant approach the car in front of her and point a gun at the man in the car (R1253,1256). The man exited the car and was walking away

with his hands up when Appellant shot him (R1254,1256). From what Rossi had seen, Rossi concluded that Appellant had "panicked and he just shot him" (R1257). The man stood for a second and then collapsed (R1258). No one was near the man when he fell (R1262). Appellant got in the man's car and sped away (R1258).

Scott Yaguda testified that he was in his car at a traffic light at Tyler Street and Young Circle (R1411). Three or four cars were in front of Yaguda's car (R1412). Yaguda's car was boxed in the traffic line (R1424). Yaguda saw Appellant walking down the street with a gun (R1413,1420). Appellant was very unkempt (R1420). Appellant tapped on the window of Yaguda's car and said that he had just killed two people and that he would kill Yaguda if he didn't get out of the car (R1415). Yaguda got out of the car and began to walk away (R1416). Appellant shot Yaguda three times (R1416,1423).

William Sorrells testified that he is the superintendent of safety and training for Broward County Transit (R1714). Sorrells identified Sydney Granger as the bus driver who was killed (R1716). There were four buses traveling on Granger's route that day (R1718). Granger's bus would be going north from the airport at 11:15 a.m. (R1724). Granger would approach the airport going south at 11:55 a.m. (R1724-25). Granger would next reach Young Circle going north at 12:35 p.m. (R1725). Drinking and smoking is prohibited on the buses (R1726). The policy is for the driver, in a conventional tone, to advise the passenger not to drink (R1726). The driver should not stop the bus (R1725).

Officer Richard Allen of the Hollywood Police Department testified that he was called to the scene of the shooting at 1:30 p.m. on July 23, 1989 (R995). Allen arrived two minutes later (R1006).

Allen discovered two men aboard the bus (R997,1007). The two men were deceased (R1007). Another man was found laying at the northeast corner of Young Circle (R999). Twenty five to thirty people were gathered at the scene (R1002). Allen asked five or six people what had happened and he received conflicting reports (R1002).

Ruth Garcia, a crime scene technician with the Hollywood Police Department, testified that she examined and photographed the crime scene area (R1009-10). Two duffle bags and a bottle were found in the bus shelter terminal (R1032). Inside the bags were a can of WD40, a flashlight, a plastic bag with shaving mirror, a plastic ziplock bag containing nail clippings, paperback books, miscellaneous medical papers, two cans of pork and beans, and bus schedules (R1050). Also found in a duffle bag was a bottle of Bushmill Irish Whiskey in a brown paper bag (R1081). Five bullet casings were found on the sidewalk Six pieces of projectiles were collected from the bus (R1037,1075). One of the bullets was imbedded in the side of the bus There was a bullet hole through the side window of the bus (R1077). (R1078). The casings were found at the north side of Young Circle (R1037).

Tom Romeo of the Hollywood Police Department testified that he also examined the duffle bags found at the scene (R1159,1168). Among the items Romeo recovered were four traveler's checks which had been used (R1175). No currency was found (R1176). A bottle of Bushmill was found and an empty bottle of Seven-Up was found near the bags (R1170,1172).

Clinton Vanderpool testified that he owns AA Lock and Gun (R1597). The business includes safety training on the use of firearms (R1597). Appellant completed the gun safety course on April 30, 1988

(R1598). This was well over a year before the shooting (R1612). Based on the fact that Appellant purchased 9 millimeter ammunition and because the business does not loan out guns, Appellant had the 9 millimeter weapon at the time he took the safety course in 1988 (R1612-13).

Deputy Richard Cook of Keith County, Nebraska, testified that he was patrolling with Deputy Joseph Jara on July 26, 1989, when they saw a vehicle parked off the interstate (R1462). After running the license plate, the officers were informed that the vehicle had been stolen and was possibly in possession of a homicide suspect (R1463). Appellant was found inside the vehicle (R1464,67). The officers ordered Appellant out of the vehicle (R1466-67). Appellant was arrested (R1467-71). Cook testified to the details of the arrest (R1467-71). Appellant and the vehicle were searched. The officers collected a bag and gun that had been in Appellant's possession (R1471). collected the following items from Appellant which were felt during the pat down search: bus tickets, eight keys, a bottle of lotion, two passports, one California and two Florida driver's licenses, a black comb, a package of Rolaids, a lighter, a Casio watch, a blade, a cough drop, a nail clipper, a small knife, five dollars and 55 cents in change, \$450.00 in traveler's checks, an ten dollar bill, and ID car in the name of Joseph Myers, a AA Lock and Gun receipt, a state of Florida receipt for \$146.00, a booklet pertaining to the use of deadly force, a receipt for \$250.00 for traveler's checks, four Holt Cough drops, an American Cyanamid subject information consent, one application for concealed weapon, one Hazelton Laboratory study, a plastic bag of pills, a list of Bush-Cadman appointments, four copies of California driver's licenses, one copy of an article on the higher form of

kipping, three nose pads, four pages of an article, one card for a medical test, one receipt for a driver's license, one gun purchase receipt dated 4/15/88, one concealed weapon license, three can openers, a black billfold, and lots of miscellaneous papers (R1488-92). A number of items were collected from the vehicle including a bottle of Seagrams whiskey, five cans of Coors beer, one empty Coors can and a pair of glasses (R1493). Inside the plastic bag that the gun was in was one magazine of 9 millimeter ammunition, a silver hollow point bullet, a vinyl gun case, a box of Winchester 9 millimeter bullets, a newspaper, a pair of rubber gloves, two gauze pads, and one silver packet (R1494). The jailer collected 3 bullets from Appellant's watch pocket (R1495).

Officer Joseph Jara of the Keith County Sheriff's Office in Nebraska testified that on July 26, 1989, he and fellow officer Richard Cook observed a parked car on the side of the road (R1438-39). The officers pulled behind the vehicle and ran the license plate (R1440-41). A report came back that the vehicle was stolen and that a possible homicide suspect could possibly be inside the vehicle (R1443). The officers ordered Appellant out of the vehicle (R1448). Appellant was arrested (R1449-56). Jara testified to the details of the arrest (R1449-56). Jara testified that he did not participate in the investigation concerning the shooting on July 23, 1989, at Young Circle (R1460).

The associate medical examiner for Broward County, Dr. Michael Bell, testified that he investigated the deaths of Sydney Granger and Wesley Anderson (R1285). Bell performed the autopsies on the two men (R1292). Granger died from a single gunshot wound to the neck (R1291,1306). It was a distant wound, rather then a contact or

immediate wound (R1299-1300). There were no other injuries to Granger (R1302). Wesley Anderson died from a wound to the back (R1324). It was a distant shot (R1321,1330). There were no other injuries to Anderson. The bullet found in Anderson was not consistent with going through glass (R1335).

Maxine Florence identified her brother, Wesley Anderson, as the passenger who had been killed on the bus (R1692).

Patrick Garland, an expert in the field of firearms identification, testified that the bullets removed from Wesley Anderson, Sidney Granger, and Scott Yaguda were fired from State's Exhibit 72 -- a semiautomatic 9 millimeter gun (R1563,1577-80).

Howard Migs testified that he knows Appellant and did a drug study with him on Biscayne Boulevard (R1782). Experimental drugs were given to people so that the FDA would approve them (R1782). Migs and Appellant would get paid for volunteering (R1783). Since the experiment, Migs and Appellant became friends and Migs had Appellant over at his apartment (R1783-84). Appellant would constantly keep his duffle bag with him and would never let the bag out of his sight (R1784). Appellant kept a firearm because he said he felt safer with a gun (R1785). Appellant was living on the streets (R1785).

James Concannon was declared an expert in the field of psychopharmacology -- the study of the interaction between drugs and behavior (R1808-10). Concannon spent between 50 and 60 hours reviewing this case (R1811). The review included review of clinical trial data from drug companies about certain drugs that were given to Appellant -- over 400 pages (R1811). Concannon also reviewed hospital records and a series of psychological evaluations of Appellant along with police reports relating to the July 23 incident (R1811-12). Concannon

reviewed 4 psychological exams that were done post July of 1989 (R1814). The exams showed that Appellant has some paranoid tendencies (R1815). This conclusion is reinforced by other information (R1815). There were also suggestions that Appellant has organic brain damage (R1815).

Concannon testified that the Boston medical records were from late 1985 to late 1987 (R1816). Time and time again Appellant visited different sections of the hospital for different types of complaints (R1818). Appellant had sleep apnea which is interruption of breathing while one is sleeping (R1818-19). This sleep disturbance can affect behavior (R1818-19). One medical doctor reported rather psychotic or paranoid behavior (R1819). Appellant was in counseling in reference to alcohol (R1819).

Concannon testified that he received records from at least five pharmaceutical labs -- Peninsula, University of Miami, South Florida Bioavailabilty, Hazelton, Clinical Pharmacology Associates -- regarding Appellant (R1821). The latest record was July 20, 1989 (R1821). During the 18 month period prior to the incident Appellant went in for 40 days of testing (R1822). Appellant's biochemical condition became much worse during this period (R1824). Appellant was anemic (R1825). This condition appeared to be due to the loss of too much blood during these experiments (R1825). Appellant also had Epithelia cells which means his body is breaking down and the thin coverings of various organs in the body are winding up in the urine where they don't belong (R1826). In 1989, Appellant was rejected by the Clinical Pharmacology Associates lab due to his anemia (R1826-27). Appellant had urea -- a breakdown product of proteins (R1827). This indicated liver or kidney damage (R1828). Hazelton lab looked at Appellant on July 20, 1989 (R1828). Appellant was clearly anemic associated with extreme blood loss (R1828). Concannon saw indications of alcohol abuse (R1828). An anemic person drinking alcohol will be affected to a greater degree than normal person (R1829). Also, an improper functioning liver will exacerbate the effects of alcohol consumption (R1829).

Concannon also testified that the materials indirectly indicated evidence of the inability to perceive and process information completely -- i.e. delirium (R1830). The consumption of alcohol increases the probability of delirium (R1830). Appellant had moderate to serious memory problems (R1836). The records indicated that Appellant was an alcoholic (R1843). Combining the consumption of alcohol, anemia, sleep apnea and other characteristics associated with Appellant, including the wasting away of vital tissues, these factors indicate a suffering from delirium (R1844). These factors cause it in most cases (R1844).

Appellant read a statement saying that he has been under surveillance since he was a child and that different chemicals were used on him as part of the surveillance (R2108). The surveillance had been by government agents (R2109). The chemical substances were used for unknown reasons (R2109). The chemicals were illegally and unknowingly foisted upon Appellant (R2109). As a result of the chemicals, Appellant has a memory loss of the events that led to his arrest (R2109). Appellant believes that the government kept records of the dosages of drugs they used on him and through the Freedom of Information Act he will be vindicated (R2109-10).

PENALTY PHASE

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