in the supreme court of florid FILED

SID J. WHITE

APR 90 1994

JOSEPH BESARABA, JR.

Appellant,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

CHIEF DEPOS CASE NO. 80,016

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA

SECOND AMENDED ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

SARA D. BAGGETT ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 0857238

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS 1655 PALM BEACH LAKES BLVD. SUITE 300 WEST PALM BEACH, FL 33401-2299 (407) 688-7759

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

There is no written agreement or stipulation in the record on appeal. The only evidence of the nature of the agreement is as stated by the prosecutor and defense counsel at the hearing on Appellant's motion in limine to exclude the in-court testimony of Mr. Yaguda, and in the motion itself. (R 3253-58; T 1268-84, 1349-62, 1365-81).

To support his contention that the State had entered into a binding stipulation that precluded its use of Mr. Yaguda's live testimony under any circumstances, Appellant relied upon the following comments made by the State just prior to Mr. Yaguda's deposition:

Before we get started with the questioning of Mr. Yaguda, I would just to -- make a few statements for the record. The attorneys in the case, myself and Mr. Bailey, have agreed to perpetuate or to allow Mr. Yaguda to testify in this case by virtue of this video taped sworn statement. The statement will be presented in court at the time of the trial and it will be used as testimony at the time of the trial.

(R 3253-54). The prosecutor responded at the hearing, however, that he sought this agreement with defense counsel because he was reasonably certain that Mr. Yaguda would be unavailable for trial and because he did not want to make the formal motions that were necessary to perpetuate his testimony. In other words, the agreement was merely to waive the procedural requirements for perpetuating testimony. Since Mr. Yaguda was ultimately able to appear for trial, the rule authorizing perpetuated testimony prohibited its introduction if the witness' attendance could be procured.

In addition, the prosecutor argued that presenting his live testimony in no way prejudiced Appellant. The fact that Mr. Yaguda was confined to a wheelchair because of Appellant's actions was going to be presented in his testimony regardless. Moreover, the videotaped deposition showed him in a wheelchair. As for opening statements, the prosecutor asserted that they were not intended for Appellant's stated purpose. Defense counsel had

discussed Mr. Yaguda's handicap during voir dire and could discuss the issue of sympathy during closing argument. Likewise, the State's knowledge of Appellant's cross-examination did not provide any unfair tactical advantage. (T 1268-84, 1349-62, 1365-77).

Ultimately, the trial court denied Appellant's motion in limine, citing to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.190(j)(6), which prohibits the use of a deposition perpetuated for trial if the attendance of the witness can be procured. In addition, it found that Appellant was not prejudiced by the sudden change of events. Having read the transcript of the videotaped deposition, the trial court found defense counsel's cross-examination "very basic." There was nothing unusual or out of the ordinary which would benefit the State. As for the effect of Mr. Yaquda's appearance in a wheelchair, the trial court noted that defense counsel could discuss the issue of sympathy in closing argument. In addition, the trial court offered to give a cautionary instruction prior to Mr. Yaquda's testimony to the effect that sympathy should not play a role in their deliberations. not waiving his objection, defense counsel requested such an instruction, and one was in fact given to the jury. (T 1377-81, 1408-09).

In this appeal, Appellant renews his argument that the State should have been forced to abide by the agreement, regardless of the express language of Rule 3.190(j)(6). The State submits, however, that the agreement was based on the good faith belief that the victim was "unavailable" as defined by Rule 3.190(j). The rule provides that a witness' testimony can be

perpetuated if it is shown that "a prospective witness resides beyond the territorial jurisdiction of the court or may be unable to attend or be prevented from attending a trial or hearing, that his testimony is material and that it is necessary to take his deposition to prevent a failure of justice." Rule 3.190(j)(1). Here, the victim resided in Virginia, beyond the territorial jurisdiction of the court, and his testimony was material and necessary. Thus, the State sought an agreement by the defense in order to bypass the formal pleading requirements of seeking leave of court to perpetuate his testimony.

When the witness ultimately decided to appear in person, the State determined that its right and obligation was to present the victim's live testimony. Mr. Yaguda was the victim, not merely a witness, and the State had the burden of proving the charges against Appellant beyond a reasonable doubt. Moreover,

[t]here is a clear constitutional preference in-court confrontation of witnesses. U.S. Const. amend. VI; Ohio v. Roberts, 448 U.S. 56, 65, 100 S.Ct. 2531, 2537, 65 L.Ed.2d 597, 607 (1978); Art. I, § 16, Fla. Const.; State v. Dolen, 390 So.2d 407 (Fla. 5th DCA The purpose of the confrontation clause to afford an fundamental right to compel a witness 'to stand face to face with the jury [or trier of fact] in order that they may look at him, and judge by his demeanor upon the stand and the in which he gives his testimony whether he is worthy of belief.'

Palmieri v. State, 411 So.2d 985, 986 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982) (quoting Barber v. Page, 390 U.S. 719, 721 (1968)). Finally, Rule 3.190(j)(6) clearly prohibits admission of the deposition where the witness' appearance can be procured.

Although the State's burden of proving "unavailability" prior to the deposition's admission can be waived by agreement of the parties, McMillon v. State, 552 So.2d 1183, 1184 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989), there was no express agreement between the State and the defense that Mr. Yaguda would be prohibited from testifying in person if he chose to do so. Rather, the agreement to use the deposition at trial was based on the underlying premise that Mr. Yaguda was not going to be there. When the premise proved false, the State and the trial court had an obligation to present Mr. Yaguda's live testimony.

By doing so, however, Appellant suffered no manifest injustice. As the trial court found, there was no tactical advantage to the State in previewing defense counsel's crossexamination where the questions were "very basic" and unusual. In addition, any prejudice suffered by Appellant based on his inability to temper the effect of the victim's handicap during opening statements could have been cured by defense in closing argument and counsel's statements instruction by the court. 10 Moreover, regardless of whether Mr. Yaquda testified by deposition or in person, the jury was going to learn that he was paralyzed and confined to a wheelchair for the rest of his life as a result of Appellant's actions. Appellant suffered no irreparable harm by the victim's personal See State v. DiGuilio, 429 So.2d 1129 (Fla. 1986). appearance. Consequently, this Court should affirm Appellant's convictions.

Although defense counsel chose not to discuss this issue, the trial court did, in fact, give the requested instruction. (T 1408-09).

ISSUE XIV

WHETHER THE STATE COMMITTED FUNDAMENTAL ERROR DURING ITS GUILT-PHASE CLOSING ARGUMENT (Restated).

In this appeal, Appellant cites to four instances in the record where the State allegedly made improper comments during its guilt-phase closing arguments. Brief of Appellant at 62-64. In the first instance, Appellant complains of the following remarks:

jury, you look at Members of the You are not going to see instructions. anywhere in that instruction [that] death has to be logical. Is the point of the evidence prove that death occurred logically? Death has no logic. You know that. [have] lived long enough. Death has no logic. This is random, he says. Could have happened to another bus yes. Another bus driver who may have had the same confrontation with Mr. Besaraba. Picked him out. That was random.

(T 1972-73) (emphasis added). When the State made these comments, defense counsel made the following objection and motion:

Mr. Morton just argued it could have happened to another bus driver who had another confrontation with Mr. Besaraba. He is in effect telling this jury if they don't put him away for this bus driver we are going to end up with another dead bus driver. I object and move for mistrial.

(T 1973).

Initially, the State submits that Appellant failed to properly preserve this issue for review. "The proper procedure to take when objectionable comments are made is to object and request an instruction from the court that the jury disregard the remarks." Duest v. State, 462 So.2d 446, 448 (Fla. 1985). See

486 So.2d 22 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986) Palmer v. State, also ("Generally, both a motion to strike the allegedly improper [comments] as well as a request for the trial court to instruct the jury to disregard the [comments] are thought to be necessary prerequisites to a motion for mistrial."). Here, Appellant failed to satisfy his burden. Although he raised a timely objection, he made no request for a curative instruction before seeking the harshest of remedies. Regardless, it is clear from the context of the State's argument that the comments were in direct response to Appellant's preceding argument and did not convey the message ascribed to them by defense counsel. were, rather, legitimate comments on the evidence. See Breedlove v. State, 413 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1982).

In the second instance, Appellant renews his complaint about the State's use of hypotheticals to explain the difference between first-degree and second-degree murder. Brief of Appellant at 62-63. Again, since the State was seeking convictions for first-degree premeditated murder, and the defense was seeking convictions for second-degree murder, explaining the distinction between the two was proper comment on the evidence. See Breedlove.

In the third instance, Appellant complains that the State improperly "bolster[ed] its case by stating that it could have produced other or additional witnesses." Brief of Appellant at 63. During its closing argument, defense counsel commented:

Remember what I said when [Detective] Doyle was on the stand, the lead detective on the case? Mr. Morton, will he be back? Remember his answer? Yes. He will be back as a witness. Never came back. The reason

why he never came back is because the Hollywood police had to go back to what they threw out, unravel it and sell it as a motive.

(T 1992). In response, the State made the following comments:

That kind of attack upon the prosecution and upon the police: The lead detective didn't do this and he didn't call this detective back as if you are trying to hide something.

I called Sergeant Hoffman. He's another lead detective who worked with Doyle and everything for the purpose, for the specific purpose of what was wrong. I could have called the lead detective and rehashed everything in this case. You have heard all of that. That would be redundant going through all of that.

* * * *

There are certain things you have to prove. You don't have to put on everybody. I could have called Doyle back to say the same thing. Hoffman could say the same thing. The purpose was to call the lead detective back for the identification and they both participated in that and instead of calling Doyle I called Hoffman. He was available. There's no diabolical attempt to try to confuse you and that kind of attack even on Hoffman and the story is this and then changes. It's clear from his statement the determination was made.

(T 2027-28). Defense counsel made no objection. Thus, he has failed to preserve this issue for review. <u>Duest</u>. Regardless, the State was clearly responding to defense counsel's comments. When viewed in context, they were proper comments and did not, as Appellant contends, intimate that the State had other witnesses. Breedlove.

Finally, Appellant complains that the State made personal attacks on defense counsel and the theory of defense. Brief of Appellant at 63-64. In one instance, the State made the following comments:

The only concerns I have is that you do not make this trial between lawyers or anything that you may have seen that I did that you didn't like or Mr. Bailey did that you didn't like or even liked. Because your oath is not to try the lawyers. Your oath is to try this case, the issues between the State of Florida and Mr. Joseph Besaraba according to the law and the evidence.

One thing you can't do in a case such as this nature, no matter who you are, no matter what a great orator you are. No matter how glib you are. No matter how smooth you are. No matter how sharp you are. One thing you You can't change the facts. can't do. Interpret them may talk about them. differently. Try to interpret The bottom line is you can't differently. change the facts. Mr. Bailey can't pull a rabbit out of a hat for you. Mr. Bailey can't make 12 reasonable people who see black say that it's white or who see white say that it's black. Neither can I.

(T 1948). Again, Appellant raised no objection; thus, he has failed to preserve this issue for review. <u>Duest</u>. In any event, these were not disparaging remarks about defense counsel. The prosecutor obviously included himself in the analysis. Thus, they were not improper. See Breedlove.

The second instance involves comments relating to defense counsel's attempt to impeach Detective Hoffman regarding his initial conclusion that the bullet that killed Mr. Anderson went through the bus window first:

Speculating that he believes that the bullet went through a window, so forth and so on. That kind of attack is like a defense where you simply just muddy the waters. You are being attacked, so muddy the waters, spread out dark ink, just hope you can escape and get away.

(T 2028). Once again, Appellant failed to raise an objection.

Duest. Regardless, the State's comments were not improper. See

Breedlove.

In sum, Appellant's failure to object to most of these comments precludes review of them. Even if he had objected to them, however, the State committed no error. All of the remarks were proper comments on the evidence. Even were they not, they were harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. See State v. Murray, 443 So.2d 955 (Fla. 1984). In light of the quality and quantity of permissible evidence upon which the jury could have relied to reach its verdicts, there is no reasonable possibility that the State's comments, if improper, affected the jury's verdicts. See State v. DiGuilio, 491 So.2d 1129 (Fla. 1986). Therefore, Appellant's conviction should be affirmed.

ISSUE XV

WHETHER THE STATE COMMITTED FUNDAMENTAL ERROR DURING ITS PENALTY-PHASE CLOSING ARGUMENT (Restated).

In this appeal, Appellant points to three instances during the State's closing argument during the penalty phase proceeding that he alleges were improper. Brief of Appellant at 64-66. None of these comments were objected to by defense counsel below; thus, none of them have been preserved for review. Henry v. State, 586 So.2d 1033, 1036 (Fla. 1991). Contrary to Appellant's contention, they do not, either singularly or together, constitute fundamental error.

In the first two instances, the State was trying to explain to the jury the purpose of the penalty phase and how it differed from the guilt phase. Specifically, the State was informing the jury that it could consider not only Appellant's rights but also the rights of the people to ensure that justice is done and that the punishment fits the crime. The State was beseeching the jury to impose the maximum sentence for what it considered to be a crime worthy of the death penalty. (T 2443, 2469). These comments were not improper. See Breedlove v. State, 413 So.2d 1, (Fla. 1982).

In the third instance, the State was responding to defense counsel's inevitable argument that Appellant be allowed to die in prison:

In spite of that kind of aggravating conduct essentially that argument boils down to we will now give him a comfortable life. Let him die perhaps in prison. Something he denied Sydney Granger and Wesley Anderson. They didn't have the opportunity to die comfortably.

(T 2458). While the State's reference to the victims was perhaps inappropriate, it does not constitute fundamental error. See Richardson v. State, 604 So.2d 1107, 1109 (Fla. 1992); Davis v. State, 604 So.2d 794, 797 (Fla. 1992); Hodges v. State, 595 So.2d 929, 934 (Fla. 1992), vacated on other grounds, 121 L.Ed.2d 6 (1993). Based on the quality and quantity of evidence in aggravation and the dearth of evidence in mitigation, there is no reasonable possibility that the recommendation or sentence would have been different absent this isolated comment, which was not even deemed appropriate for objection at the time it was made.

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